
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - MONDAY 4 NOVEMBER 2019 AT 9.30AM

Venue - NORFOLK & DEREHAM ROOMS, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr J.P. Cowen

Mr P.J. Hewett
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs A. M. Webb

This meeting may be filmed, recorded or photographed by the public; 
however, anyone who wishes to do so must inform the Chairman and 
ensure it is done in a non-disruptive and public manner. Please review the 
Council’s guidance on filming and recording meetings available in the 
meeting room.

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Thursday, 24 October 2019

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk




Cabinet
04 November 2019

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 4 - 13
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2019.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. ABBEY ESTATE: JOINT WORKING WITH FLAGSHIP GROUP 14 - 22
Report of the Leader of the Council, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen.

8. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next Cabinet meeting will be held on Monday 2 
December 2019 at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Monday, 14 October 2019 at 9.30 am in
Connaught Hall, Station Road, Attleborough, NR17 2AS

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr J.P. Cowen

Mr P.J. Hewett
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mrs H, Crane
Mrs V. Dale

Mr K. Martin
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Miss T. Taylor
Mr S. Terry

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Andrew D'Arcy - Planning Policy Manager
Simon Wood - Director of Planning & Building Control
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

64/19 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2019 were confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman. 

65/19 APOLOGIES 

None.

66/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

4

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
14 October 2019

2

Action By

67/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

68/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Ashby, Borrett, M Chapman-Allen, Crane, Dale, K Martin, Nunn, 
Suggitt, Terry and Taylor.

69/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

Nothing to report.

70/19 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Community Match Funding  

The Executive Member for Community, Leisure and Culture presented the 
report to Members.

Reasons for recommendations
1. To continue to offer a Community Match Funding programme that 

facilitates and empowers the community to address locally identified 
need.

2. The NCF are experts in grant management and administration and 
would provide a better service to the community, and better value 
for money through their ability to signpost groups to a wider number 
of available grant schemes.

3. The decision would allow current council resources to be better 
focussed on more proactive and preventative work with local 
communities and partner agencies, in particular around the health 
and social care agenda, rather than administration of the grants 
scheme.

Options
1. Approve the recommended Community Match Funding programme 

outlined in the proposal and commission the NCF to manage and 
administrate the scheme on behalf of the Council.

2. Approve the recommended Community Match Funding programme 
as outlined in the proposal and recruit a 0.5fte Communities Officer 
resource to manage and administer the scheme internally at a cost 
of £19,618 per year for a 0.5fte Grade 8 post.

3. Do nothing (discontinue the Community Match Funding 
Programme).

RESOLVED that:
1. a new Community Match Funding programme of £100,000 per year 

from council reserves, with a maximum grant of £5,000 per 
applicant, per year be approved.

2. the proposed Community Match Funding programme be 
administered by the Norfolk Community Foundation (NCF).

3. determination of the funding criteria is delegated to the Executive 
Director of Place in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Community, Leisure and Culture.

5



Cabinet
14 October 2019

3

Action By

 (b) VE/VJ Day 75th Anniversary Celebrations 2020  

The Executive Member for Community, Leisure and Culture presented the 
report to Members.  He said in order to engage with as many residents as 
possible in the forthcoming celebrations it was proposed that the Council 
offered a £30,000 celebratory grant scheme that would facilitate community 
events held in commemoration and celebration for both the VE and VJ day 
75th Anniversary celebrations.

He went on to ask Members that the recommendation be extended to 
include two other significant events during 2020; the 80th Anniversary of 
Dunkirk and of the Battle of Britain.  These would be included within the 
same proposed budgetary figure of £30,000.  Members agreed the 
recommendation should include the two additional events.

Reasons for Recommendations
1. Breckland Council has a historic alliance with the armed forces, as 

well as a strong track record of facilitating such commemorative 
activity within its communities in the recent past.  The grant scheme 
will build on those which have gone before it and maximise the 
amount of Breckland residents able to participate in the national 
celebrations.

2. The NCF are experts in grant management and administration and 
would provide both a better service to the community, and better 
value for money, through the ability to signpost groups to a wider 
number of available grant schemes.

3. The decision would allow current council resources to be better 
focussed on more proactive and preventative work with local 
communities and partner agencies, in particular around the health 
and social care agenda, rather than administration of the grants 
scheme.

Options
1. Approve the recommended VE and VJ Day Celebratory Grant 

Scheme.
2. Approve the recommended VE and VJ Day Celebratory Grant 

scheme as outlined within the report and recruit a 0.25fte 
Communities Officer resource to manage and administer the 
scheme internally at a cost of £8,652.

3. Do nothing.

RESOLVED:
1. That a £30,000 VE and VJ Day celebratory grant scheme for 

community events to commemorate the 75th Anniversary of the end 
of World War II; the 80th Anniversary of Dunkirk and Battle of Britain, 
in 2020 be approved, 

2. The VE and VJ Day, and the Dunkirk and Battle of Britain 
celebratory grant scheme be administered by the Norfolk 
Community Foundation (NCF).

71/19 BRECKLAND TOWN DELIVERY PLANS 

The Leader presented the report that would bring together through a delivery 
partnership all major public sector strategic planning and delivery 
stakeholders that would impact on Breckland’s residents and businesses.  

6



Cabinet
14 October 2019

4

Action By

Councillor Borrett asked how the plan’s progress would be monitored and 
measured.  The Chief Executive informed Members that lessons would be 
learnt from other Authorities and be clear on how to influence other capital 
programmes and decision making with stakeholders.

Reasons for Recommendation
The proposal provided a means of undertaking a comprehensive review of 
market town delivery priorities underpinned by strong public engagement and 
an opportunity to build a sustainable delivery governance model.

Options
1) Cabinet recommends to Full Council to approve allocation and spend 

of up to £392,000 to allow development of delivery plans for 
Breckland’s five market towns. Cabinet also recommends to Full 
Council, subject to a successful funding application, to approve 
acceptance of up to £196,000 from the Norfolk Rates Business Pool 
(BRP) to support the project and authorises the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Leader to approve the terms of the grant and 
enter into the grant agreement.

2) Cabinet recommends to Full Council not to approve the allocation and 
seek alternative proposals for the strengthening of public sector 
planning and delivery in Breckland’s market towns.

RESOLVED to Recommend to Full Council:

1) Allocation and spend of up to £392,000 to allow commissioning of 
delivery plans for Breckland’s five market towns be approved;

2) Subject to a successful funding application, acceptance of up to 
£196,000 from the Norfolk Business Rates Pool (BRP) to support the 
project and authorise the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Leader to approve the terms of the grant and enter into the grant 
agreement be approved.

72/19 SNETTERTON ELECTRICITY POWER UPGRADE PROJECT 

The Executive Member for Finance and Growth explained that the Council 
had entered into contract with UK Power Networks (UKPN) for the 
construction of the new Primary Substation for Thetford.  The detailed design 
exercise had led to revised project costs which were higher than previously 
anticipated.  In order to ensure the project could be delivered as originally 
proposed, the Council had formally requested an uplift of the Norfolk 
Business Rates Pool grant award of £156,541.  Both the LEP and Norfolk 
County Council were working closely with the Council on the project along 
with the land owners too.

Councillor Martin asked if consideration could be given to providing a cycle 
path between Snetterton and Attleborough.  The Director of Planning and 
Building Control confirmed work was underway to consider sustainable forms 
of transport between the local towns and Snetterton.

Reasons for recommendation
Acceptance of the additional grant funding supports the completion of the 
new 11kV Distribution Ring at the earliest possible date, estimated at Autumn 
2020, whilst maintaining an adequate level of project budget contingency.

7



Cabinet
14 October 2019

5

Action By

Delaying the work on the new distribution ring could potentially jeopardise a 
number of development projects at Snetterton Heath which are currently in 
negotiation.

Options
1) Proceed as per the report recommendations (recommended).  Under 

this option, the authority will accept the additional £156,541 of grant 
funding from Norfolk Business Rates Pool so that the Distribution Ring 
works could proceed.

2) Do not accept the additional BRP funding (not recommended).  Under 
this option, the authority would have the budget to deliver the 
substation but not the distribution ring.  This would undermine the 
ability of the project to deliver its overarching stated aims, which were 
to support with power distribution to and around the Snetterton Heath 
employment area.

RESOLVED to Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:
That acceptance and spend of a Norfolk Business Rates Pool (BRP) grant 
value uplift of £156,541, from £782,706 to £939,247, in order to support with 
the delivery of a power distribution solution for the Snetterton Heath 
employment area, be approved.

73/19 NORFOLK FA ARTIFICIAL GRASS PITCH PROJECT – BRECKLAND 
LEISURE CENTRE & WATERWORLD 

The Executive Member for Community, Leisure and Culture presented the 
report that asked Members to consider the release of funds to contribute 
towards the re-development of the Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) at 
Breckland Leisure Centre and Waterworld in Thetford.

Councillor Terry informed Members that residents had raised queries over the 
height of the fence and had asked if this could be raised to stop the footballs 
going over the fence.  In addition, the Thetford Hockey Club also used the 
site and he asked if there could be the opportunity to provide an additional 
pitch for the hockey club to use.  The Executive Director of Place confirmed 
the issue of the fencing would be addressed.  He went onto say that having 
talked to the Football Foundation, Hockey could not be accommodated on the 
pitch, and was committed to working with the Hockey Club to seek an 
alternative site.

Reasons for Recommendation
1) The non-technical feasibility report delivered from TRI-Sports showed 

a potential significant increase in participation that could see an 
increase from 45% to 80% hire rate at the facility.

2) The Football Association training model estimated that there was a 
need for four full sized 3G artificial grass pitches within the Breckland 
District area.  Current supply showed there was one full-sized pitch 
based at Dereham Neatherd High School, with a second small-sized 
pitch based at Dereham Northgate High School.

3) The existing Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) was laid in 2006 with no 
evidence of ever being resurfaced.  The Neil Allen Associates report 
from 2017 identified that the average age for a pitch carpet is 6-10 
years, dependent on the level of use.  This means the existing MUGA 
was at the end of its expected lifecycle.

8



Cabinet
14 October 2019

6

Action By

4) The overall cost for the project would cost £440k without the local 
football facilities plan initiative from the Football Foundation.  The 
initiative essentially allowed the project to be completed and a high 
spec new facility to be built for £96k.

Options
1) Agree the release of funds to part contribute to the installation of a 3G 

Artificial Grass Pitch in replacement of the existing Multi Use Games 
Area at Breckland Leisure Centre & Waterworld, Thetford.

2) Do nothing.

RESOLVED to release funds of up to the amount of £96,000 from the 
community reserve for the redevelopment of the Multi Use Games Area 
(MUGA) site at Breckland Leisure Centre & Waterworld, Thetford with a third-
generation (3G) Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) being installed at its replacement 
be agreed.

Cabinet Recommends to Full COUNCIL:  to accept all grant funding 
including the contribution from Parkwood and set up necessary budgets to 
spend the grant.

74/19 NORFOLK STRATEGIC PLANNING FRAMEWORK 

The Planning Policy Manager informed Members that the Norfolk Strategic 
Planning Framework document set out agreements between Local Authorities 
and key statutory organisations which met a number of legal and regulatory 
requirements when preparing Local plans.  The Authority must also discharge 
a legal ‘duty to co-operate’ with neighbouring authorities in relation to 
strategically important land use issues which cross administrative boundaries.  

The report set out a number of agreements that covered key issues to meet 
housing and employment needs as well as an emphasis on the environment.  

Members questioned why the UK Power Networks were not added as part of 
the Agreement statements, which would be considered by Officers.

Reasons for Recommendation
To ensure that Breckland continued to have a strong voice within Norfolk and 
to establish key areas of common ground on key areas relating to the local 
economy, housing, infrastructure and environment and delivery matters in a 
cost effective manner.

Options
1) That Cabinet endorsed the draft Norfolk Strategic Planning 

Framework.
2) That Cabinet does not endorse the strategy and risks losing influence 

during the next round of plan preparation and a failure under the duty 
to co-operate requirement.

RESOLVED that:
1) the Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework and Statement of Common 

Ground 2019 and the agreements contained therein be endorsed by 
Breckland District Council.

2) the Council support and welcomes the commitment to continued co-
operative working and periodic review of the framework and in 

9



Cabinet
14 October 2019

7

Action By

particular would support further collective work in relation to climate 
change.

75/19 QUARTER 1 2019-20 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Governance presented the 
report that provided an overview of the Council’s performance for the period 1 
April 2019 to 30 June 2019.  The report had been produced in a new format 
and the information would be used to inform what support the Council needed 
to provide.

Members noted the contents of the report.

76/19 REFERENCE FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
(STANDING ITEM) 

Nothing to report.

77/19 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 2 December at 9.30am in 
the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham were noted.

NB: Members were asked to note the additional meeting of Cabinet that had 
been arranged for Monday 4 November at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham.

78/19 BRECKLAND BRIDGE EXTENSION 

(The Executive Member for Finance and Growth, and Maxine O’Mahony the 
Executive Director for Strategy and Governance left the meeting prior to this 
item).

The Executive Member for Contracts and Assets presented the report to 
Members that asked if the Council should continue the Breckland Bridge 
property development joint venture partnership.  He highlighted that there 
were some changes in the scheme due to lessons that had been learnt along 
the way.  Whilst it was considered a risk for the Council in terms of costs if 
projects should overrun, everything had been put into place to mitigate those 
risks.  He went onto recommend Option two to Members. 

Reasons for Recommendation:

Overall the performance outputs of the joint venture have been good based 
on the two projects which had been completed (Riverside and Mileham) and 
the forecast outputs from the third project (Chapel Road, Attleborough) were 
positive.  It had been an effective partnership so far and the Council had been 
able to obtain income from land receipts and loan interest.  The joint venture 
had also added capacity to the Council’s property teams and thus access to 
strategic property advice.  The guidance had been efficient and cost effective 
and delivered at speed which would otherwise had to have been procured.  It 
should not be under-estimated given the additional activity the joint venture 
had undertaken.  The joint venture had also undertaken work to prepare sites 
for a more delivery-focused business plan over the next period, subject to the 
decision to continue.  

10



Cabinet
14 October 2019

8

Action By

The Council needed to consider whether to continue with the partnership and 
the main reasons for doing so were set out below:

 Breckland Bridge was now established and should deliver both a 
financial return and housing return over the next 5-10 years.  

 The next business plan was financially viable, based on the 
assumptions upon which it had been modelled and providing the risks 
were managed and the controls embedded within the legal 
documentation were adhered to.  

 There were added benefits to being in the partnership and the 
changes that were proposed reflected the learning from the first 
business plan period.  This would improve the outputs for the second 
period which would be more delivery focused with less overhead on 
the company.  It would not lose the flexibility of receiving services from 
the partnership as required.  The re-focused financial vision would 
also assist the joint venture.

 Delivery over the initial period had been good and the partner Land 
Group wanted to stay involved in the joint venture.

 Projects had been successfully delivery on time and within budget and 
achieved what they set out to achieve and they (Mileham) had made a 
financial surplus.

 The ability to access additional property development expertise and 
skills efficiently.

 Additional ad-hoc work property related could be undertaken without 
the need for procurement.

 Allowed for delivery quickly without need for individual procurement on 
individual projects.

 There was an established and trusted partnership infrastructure and 
there was no need to re-procure the partner.

 By continuing the joint venture, the Council gained further value from 
the procurement investment and set up costs.

 There were known break points over the next 10 years should the 
Council wish to exit.

 The Council earns an enhanced rate of return on its surplus cash.
 An independent property development consultant had undertaken a 

thorough assessment of the proposed financial model for the next 
phase of the partnership and concluded that - the Council would 
appear to receive a return commensurate with the risk likely for these 
types of development

The Council had obtained development and delivery capacity and expertise 
and skills to deliver complex projects on time and budget against low land 
values and at the same time creating a financial surplus subject to managing 
the identified risk. 

Options
Option 1 – Continue to be a partner in the Breckland Bridge joint venture 
vehicle and in doing so:

a) Issue an Extension Notice (on the basis of the terms set out in the report) 
to the Land Group LLP to continue the partnership per the Shareholders 
Agreement.

b) The Leader of the Council to continue as the nominated Shareholder 

11



Cabinet
14 October 2019

9

Action By

Representative and to undertake all necessary shareholder decisions except 
for the approval of the business plan annually which is delegated to Cabinet.

c) To continue the existing governance arrangements and in doing so:
i. Delegate all the relevant shareholder consent matters to the 

Shareholders Representative.
ii. Delegate the appointment (and any subsequent removals or 

re-appointments) of: 
- the Officer Director to the Chief Executive.
- the External Director to the Shareholder Representative.
- the Member Director to the Shareholder Representative.

iii. Indemnify the Council’s appointed Directors from personal 
liability.

d) To continue the appointments of the current Breckland Council appointed 
Directors to Breckland Bridge until changed by either the Chief Executive or 
Shareholder Representative (as per c) above.

Option 2 - As per Option 1 above with the addition of:

e) Approve the additional small site project delivery.

Option 3

Do not continue to be a partner in the Breckland Bridge joint venture vehicle 
and do not extend the partnership. 

If the Council should not continue the joint venture all three initial projects 
from the initial business plan had been completed and any additional 
authorised projects any current debt or surplus in the company would be 
distributed or supported by the shareholders.  The Council would receive (if 
surplus exists) or contribute (if debt exists) 90% to the total.  Appendix 3 
provided further analysis on the alternative options available to the Council if 
the option was taken.  Further analysis of the options in Appendix 3 would be 
undertaken and brought back to Members.

RESOLVED that Cabinet Approve Option 2 as stated below:

Continue to be a partner in the Breckland Bridge joint venture vehicle and in 
doing so:

a) Issue an Extension Notice (on the basis of the terms set out in this report) 
to the Land Group LLP to continue the partnership per the Shareholders 
Agreement.

b) The Leader of the Council to continue as the nominated Shareholder 
Representative and to undertake all necessary shareholder decisions except 
for the approval of the business plan annually which was delegated to 
Cabinet.

c) To continue the existing governance arrangements and in doing so:
i. Delegate all the relevant shareholder consent matters to the 

Shareholders Representative.
ii. Delegate the appointment (and any subsequent removals or 

re-appointments) of: 

12



Cabinet
14 October 2019

10

Action By

- the Officer Director to the Chief Executive.
- the External Director to the Shareholder Representative.
- the Member Director to the Shareholder Representative.

iii. Indemnify the Council’s appointed Directors from personal 
liability.

d) To continue the appointments of the current Breckland Council appointed 
Directors to Breckland Bridge until changed by either the Chief Executive or 
Shareholder Representative (as per c) above.

e) Approve the additional small site project delivery.

RECOMMEND TO FULL COUNCIL that:

a) The new business plan be agreed as outlined in summary in Table 3 of the 
report.

b) The financial requirements of the business plan be agreed and delegate 
the S.151 Officer to undertake any related ancillary matters in order to 
implement the recommendations of the report and amend the capital and 
revenue budgets and any other on-going expenditure and release of funding 
including the following:

(i) Award loans in accordance with the Council’s adopted Treasury 
Management Policy.

(ii) Release up to £20,000 for the legal fees to undertake the legal 
due diligence and extension documentation.

(iii) Provide the funding and approval of the provision of the client 
support post.

79/19 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The exclusion of the Press and Public was not required.

80/19 BRECKLAND BRIDGE EXTENSION 

The item was not required.

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

CHAIRMAN

13



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Sam Chapman-Allen, Leader Breckland Council 

To: Cabinet 4th November 2019

Author: Anna Graves, Chief Executive

Subject: Abbey Estate: Joint Working with Flagship Group 

Purpose: Approve the Memorandum of Understanding between Flagship Group, 
Norfolk County Council and Breckland Council

Recommendation(s):
 
1) That Cabinet approve the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between Flagship Group, 

Norfolk County Council and Breckland Council 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Breckland Council’s strategic vision is ‘Breckland: A place where people and business can 
thrive’, with the aim of ensuring Breckland remains a place that people choose to live, 
work, visit and enjoy. 

1.2 We have been approached by Flagship Group, who own some 670 homes on the Abbey 
Estate in Thetford, to work them, Norfolk County Council and most importantly the local 
community to create meaningful change on the Abbey Estate. In our initial discussions we 
have agreed that this work must be led by the needs and aspirations of the local 
community. It is my belief that if we are able to agree improvements with all the parties, 
this will align very closely with the outcomes we are looking for and I am seeking Cabinet 
endorsement for this aspiration. 

1.3 The Memorandum of Understanding has been developed to underpin this collaboration 
and it sets out the basis on which the three parties will work together. 

1.4 The Abbey Estate was built in the late 1960’s to provide homes for people moving from 
London under the town expansion scheme. The design of the estate lacks recreational 
facilities and in places creates opportunities for anti-social behaviour. Equally, the Abbey 
Estate has a strong sense of community and there is a passion for the area amongst 
residents. The Abbey Estate provides homes for 1,178 households and 670 of the homes 
are owned and managed by Flagship Group. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Approve the Memorandum of Understanding.  

2.2 Do not approve the proposal, as Norfolk County Council and Flagship Group could 
develop the scheme between themselves without Breckland. If this route was taken, 
Breckland Council would remain a statutory consultee on any planning application. 

2.3 Do nothing. 

14

Agenda Item 7



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The proposal is considered to align closely with Breckland Council’s strategic vision and 
priorities for the five years 2019 – 2023 as agreed in our corporate plan. The rationale 
behind the proposal is to improve the physical, environmental and community elements of 
the estate in a manner agreed with the local community.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The parties want to create meaningful change and enhance the Estate to achieve the 
following key objectives:

 Create places where people want to live.
 Develop thriving communities.
 Create safe, inclusive environments.
 Positively affect the environment to achieve improvements to deprivation indices. 
 Actively promote Thetford as a destination of choice.
 Encourage economic investment and growth in Greater Thetford – enhancing 

opportunities for employment and prosperity

5.0 IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, 
these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal 
5.1.1 The proposal is an executive decision under the Council’s Constitution. It will publicly 

signal Breckland Council’s intention to work with the other bodies and the local 
community. It does not prejudge the outcome or the feasibility of the work. 

5.1.2 If the proposal is accepted, Breckland, Flagship Group and the County Council will work 
together, with the local community, to develop a shared vision for the estate. The public 
bodies will commit to providing strategic leadership and influence and seek to align the 
work with other activity in the Thetford area. 

5.1.3 This Memorandum of Understanding will not to be legally binding, and no legal obligations 
or legal rights will arise between the parties. Nevertheless, the Memorandum of 
Understanding should be seen as a statement of intent and a shared commitment to 
deliver positive change to the Abbey Estate. 

5.2 Corporate Priorities
5.2.1 This programme of work fulfils the ‘place’ focused corporate priority as agreed in the 2019 

– 2023 Corporate Plan for Breckland. 

5.3 Financial 
5.3.1 None Directly from this report

15



5.4 Staffing
5.4.1 No additional staff will be required, however existing staff will engage in the scheme as they 

would any other development 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Thetford Priory, Thetford Castle, Thetford Boudica, Thetford Burrell  

7.0 ACRONYMS 
7.1 MOU Memorandum of Agreement 

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Anna Graves
Telephone Number: 01362 656215
Email: chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service / Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Memorandum of Understanding 
Appendix B A Vision for Meaningful Change: The Abbey Estate 

16

mailto:chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


1

THIS  AGREEMENT is dated [DATE]

PARTIES

(1) FLAGSHIP GROUP LIMITED of 31 King Street, Norwich, Norfolk, NR1 1PD (“the 
Association”)

(2) BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL of Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk 
NR19 1EE (“the Council”) 

(3) NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, Martineau Lane, Norwich, NR1 2DH (“the 
County Council”)

The Association is the registered proprietor of part of the land and dwellings, garages and 
amenity areas known as the Abbey Estate, Thetford (“the Estate”). 

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 Following the Association’s engagement work with their customers, the parties have agreed 
to work together in a spirit of mutual co-operation and collaboration to create meaningful 
change and improvements to the Estate.

1.2 The parties wish to record the basis on which they will collaborate with each other. 

2. KEY OBJECTIVES FOR THE PROJECT

2.1 The parties want to create meaningful change and enhance the Estate (including open space) 
to attempt to achieve the following key objectives:

(a) Create places where people want to live.

(b) Develop thriving communities.

(c) Create safe, inclusive environments.

(d) Positively affects the environment to achieve improvements to deprivation indices. 

(e) Actively promotes Thetford as a destination of choice.

(f) Encourages economic investment and growth in Greater Thetford – enhancing 
opportunities for employment and prosperity;

Collectively the (Key Objectives).

3. PRINCIPLES OF COLLABORATION

The parties agree to adopt the following principles when seeking to achieve (Principles):

(a) collaborate and co-operate;

17



2

(b) be accountable. Take on, manage and account to each other for performance of the 
respective roles and responsibilities as things progress;

(c) be open. Communicate openly about concerns, issues or opportunities;

(d) recognise the complexity and external funding requirements of delivery and work 
collaboratively to identify solutions, mitigate risk and reduce cost;

(e) act in a timely manner. Recognise the time-constraints and respond accordingly to 
requests for support;

(f) manage stakeholders effectively;

(g) deploy appropriate resources. Ensure sufficient and appropriately qualified 
resources are available and authorised to fulfil the responsibilities set out in this 
MoU;

(h) act in good faith to support achievement of the Key Objectives and compliance with 
these Principles.

4. PROJECT GOVERNANCE

4.1 The parties have formed a group to try and further the Key Objectives (“Steering Group”). The 
parties will ensure that their representatives on the Steering Group are committed to the 
Principles and furthering the Key Objectives.

4.2 The Steering Group will:

(a) Provide strategic leadership– providing direction, scrutiny and timely intervention 
across areas of influence; 

(b) Ensure alignment of vision – consolidating views/coordinating activities across 
organisations/agencies to galvanise a shared vision of the estate, and Greater 
Thetford; 

(c) Enable progression – aligning projects and ensuring the Abbey is prioritised where 
possible, to sustain momentum and delivery.

5. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

5.1 The parties intend that any intellectual property rights created in the course of developing the 
Key Objectives shall vest in the party whose employee created them (or in the case of any 
intellectual property rights created jointly by employees of both parties in the party that is lead 
party for the part that the intellectual property right relates to).

5.2 Where any intellectual property right vests in either party in accordance with the intention set 
out in clause 5.1 above, that party shall grant an irrevocable licence to the other party to use 
that intellectual property for the purposes of the achieving the Key Objectives.

18



3

6. PARTIES COMMITMENTS

6.1 The Association commits to be generally committed to the delivery of the Key Objectives and 
to provide its resources in the form of staff, land, money and any other resources as it sees fit 
to further the Key Objectives. It will be responsible for delivery and ensure there is effective 
communication and consultation with residents, seeking their input on any plans.

6.2 The Council as a key strategic partner of the Association commits to support the Principles 
and to work collaboratively with both parties to further the Key Objectives providing resources 
and assistance as it sees fit. The Council is committed to assisting the Association where 
possible in the delivery of the Key Objectives.

6.3 The County Council a key strategic partner of both the Council and the Association and 
supports the delivery of the Key Objectives. It is committed to supporting the Key Objectives 
and Principles of collaboration to help jointly deliver the Key Objectives.

7. TERM AND TERMINATION

7.1 This MoU shall commence on the date of signature by all three parties and shall terminate by 
the written agreement of all of the parties.

8. VARIATION

This MoU may only be varied by written agreement of all the parties.  

9. STATUS 

9.1 This MoU is not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations or legal rights shall 
arise between the parties from this MoU. The parties enter into the MoU intending to honour 
all their obligations.

9.2 Nothing in this MoU is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any partnership or joint 
venture between the parties, constitute any party as the agent of any other party, nor 
authorise any of the parties to make or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of any 
other party.

10. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

This MoU shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law and, each party 
agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

19



4

EXECUTED by affixing the common seal of
FLAGSHIP GROUP LIMITED:

In the presence of 

Authorised Signatory: ............................................

Authorised Signatory: ............................................

EXECUTED [or signed]  by
BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
by: ............................................

............................................

............................................

............................................

............................................
EXECUTED [or signed] by
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL 

............................................

by: ............................................
............................................
............................................

20



A vision for 
meaningful 
change
Enhancing lives and opportunities

THE ABBEY ESTATE

Who we are
We’re Flagship Group, a housing association with 
over 28,000 properties in the eastern region. Our 
purpose is to provide homes for people in need 
and our goal is to solve the housing crisis in the 
East of England. We aim to be the best at what we 
do in the UK.

What we do is simple, we build affordable homes, 
we let them at social & affordable rent and we 
repair, maintain and improve them. We aim to add 
value to our communities and always strive to 
deliver outstanding customer service.

We are uniquely placed to lead and deliver a 
vision for meaningful change. With 670 affordable 
homes in our ownership on the Abbey estate 
alongside 2,400 other homes across Thetford, we 
have a genuine stake in the area. We understand 
the needs and aspirations of the community, as 
well as the opportunity and potential. We are 
committed to the future success of the Abbey 
estate and Thetford as a whole.

Get in touch...
To find out more, please get in touch:  
James Payne, Project Director,  
james.payne@flagship-group.co.uk 

0808 168 4555  
flagship-group.co.uk

21



The Abbey Estate
The Abbey Estate was built in the late 
1960s, providing 1,200 affordable homes 
across 40 hectares for people moving from 
London under the town expansion scheme.

Years on, the Estate has grown into a 
diverse community, but its design creates 
challenges for the community.

The vision
We want to create meaningful change for the 
Abbey Estate and Thetford, to enhance lives and 
create better opportunities. But we cannot do this 
alone. Only by taking a collaborative approach can 
we make transformational change – all the time 
being led by the needs and aspirations of the  
local community.

We want to reduce deprivation, anti-social 
behaviour, and increase opportunities, resulting 
in a reinvigorated Abbey Estate. To create an 
estate that feels integrated with the surrounding 
neighbourhoods. We’re excited about what’s 
possible to fulfil its potential and support local 
people to create a thriving and diverse community. 
An Abbey Estate of which everyone can be proud.

The story today
The Abbey Estate has a strong sense of community, 
with passion and commitment for the local area.

However, being among the top 10% of deprived 
areas nationally, there is a real opportunity to 
enhance lives.

Voices from the Abbey
We’ve been speaking to residents to understand 
what matters to them. Though this is ongoing, 
they have identified priorities – such as the 
use of garages and the lack of sports and 
recreational activities, drug use and violence as 
well as fly-tipping across the estate. In response 
we have started to visualise aspirational ideas.

This dialogue with residents is vital, and only by 
working collaboratively with the community can 
we shape and effect the meaningful change we 
think is essential – and possible.

“Garages are  
a big issue.”

“I love living in 
Thetford.”

The opportunity
Thetford, being superbly positioned,  
with good facilities and an outstanding  
external environment has huge opportunity for 
sustainable change. Infrastructure initiatives such 
as the dualling of the A11 and the promotion of 
the Cambridge/Norwich tech corridor, the urban 
extension and the enterprise park provide present 
and tangible projects for investment and growth 
into Thetford.

With the town centre as well as Thetford Forest 
on its doorstep, the Abbey Estate’s positioning has 
the scope and potential to play a key role in the 
broader regeneration of Thetford.

“ASB and litter  
can be a  

problem here.”

“I love the Abbey 
estate, everyone 
is friendly and 

community spirited.”

22


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Abbey Estate: Joint Working with Flagship Group
	Appendix 1 Memorandum of Understanding
	Appendix 2 Flagship Prospectus


